# IMPLANTATION DISORDERS: IMMUNOLOGICAL BACKGROUND

#### Ph.D. Thesis

# Éva Mikó M.D.

Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology
University of Pécs, Medical School

## Tutor

Júlia Szekeres-Barthó M.D., Ph.D.

Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology

University of Pécs, Medical School

2008.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of abbreviations	4
Introduction	6
Implantation	6
Immune cells and factors affecting decidualization and in	nplantation 7
NK cells	7
γ/δ T cells	8
Invariant NKT cells	9
Killer immunoglobulin-like receptors	10
C-type lectin receptors	11
Natural cytotoxicity receptors	11
PIBF	11
Implantation disorders	12
Recurrent miscarriage	13
Pre-eclampsia	14
Intrauterine growth retardation	16
Aims of the study and results	17
Theses	28
Materials and methods	31
Separation of peripheral blood lymphocytes	31
Monoclonal antibodies	31
MiniMACS γδT cell separation	33

Labeling of lymp	phocytes and flow cytometric analysis	34
Apoptosis of $V\delta$	2+ T cells by Annexin V staining	35
Statistics		36
Summary		37
Papers		39
References		40
Publications		58

## **LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS**

APC allophycocyanin

BSA bovine serum albumin

CTLA cytotoxic T lymphocyte-antigen

EVTC endovascular trophoblast cells

FACS fluorescence activated cell sorter

Fas apoptosis stimulating fragment

FasL apoptosis stimulating fragment ligand

FCS fetal calf serum

FITC fluorescein isothiocyanate

HELLP haemolytic anaemia, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet

count

HLA human leukocyte antigen

IFN interferon

Ig immunoglobulin

IL interleukin

iNKT invariant natural killer T

ITAM immunoreceptor tyrosine–based activation motif

ITIM immunoreceptor tyrosine–based inhibition motif

IUGR intrauterin growth retardation

KIR killer immunoglobulin (Ig)-like receptor

LH luteinizing hormone

mAb monoclonal antibody

MACS magnetic-activated cell separation

MHC major histocompatibilty antigen

MIC MHC class I chain-related

NK natural killer

PBS phosphate buffered saline

PE phycoerythrin

Pi propidium iodide

PIBF progesterone induced blocking factor

RM recurrent miscarriage

RPMI Roswell Park Memorial Institute

SEM standard error of mean

TCR T cell receptor

TGF transforming growth factor

Th T helper

TIM T cell immunoglobulin mucin

TIMP tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases

TNF tumor necrosis factor

TNFR tumor necrosis factor receptor

Treg regulatory T

VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **IMPLANTATION**

Pregnancy is a natural model of an optimal immune regulation in a graft-host relation. Though 50% of fetal antigens are of paternal origin, and there is ample evidence that these antigens are recognized, the immune system of the mother tolerates the semi-allogeneic fetus. However, while creating a favorable environment for the fetus, the maternal immune system must be prepared to control possible emerging infections. Therefore, a delicate balance is established to satisfy contradictory interests of mother and fetus.

Five-ten days after the LH surge there is a short period of time available for successful implantation. This is called the implantation window (1). During this interval cyclic secretion of estrogens and progesterone triggers morphological and physiological changes of the endometrium, and creates a suitable endometrial environment for embryo implantation and maintenance of early pregnancy.

Blastocyst formation usually begins at day 5 after conception and implantation takes place approximately at day 7. The blastocyst is made up of an inner cell mass which forms the embryo later on, and of an outer cell mass which forms the trophoblast. Since the embryo does not come into direct contact with the maternal organism the trophoblast represents the fetal compartment of the placenta. The trophoblast consists of an inner layer called cytotrophoblast and of an outer layer called syncytiotrophoblast. Multinucleated syncytiotrophoblast cells coat the chorionic villi and are constantly bathed in maternal

blood flowing through the intervillous space. The extravillous cytotrophoblast is an invasive subpopulation that gets in direct contact with decidual cells (2, 3, 4).

Fetal tissues are semiallogenic and paternal antigens can be recognized as foreign which leads to immunoactivation. While the syncytiotrophoblast and villous cytotrophoblast are devoid of HLA molecules (5) the extravillous cytotrophoblast expresses a special combination of HLA class I antigens: HLA-G, HLA-E and a small amount of HLA-C (6, 7, 8, 9). HLA-G and HLA-E are non-classical class I molecules, with a limited polymorphism and low cell surface expression (10). HLA-C is polymorphic, therefore, paternal specificity is also expressed at the fetomaternal interface.

Decidualization is characterized by endometrial expansion and storage of nutrients. For establishing an appropriate blood supply uterine arteries develop new branches called spiral arteries. Trophoblast invasion of the decidua, as well as the development of spiral arteries are, - at least partly - controlled by the influx of maternal immune cells which recognize the semiallogenic fetus and contribute to the establishment of pregnancy.

# Immune cells and factors affecting decidualization and implantation

Three relatively minor lymphocyte subpopulations are significantly enriched in the decidua, and play a major role in creating a favorable environment for implantation and the early development of the fetus.

**NK cells** play diverse roles in the reproductive process. CD 56<sup>bright</sup> CD16<sup>neg</sup> and CD3<sup>neg</sup> granulated decidual NK cells, which constitute a dominant lymphocyte population in the early decidua (11) are - despite their high perforin content - not cytotoxic (12), but

secrete an array of angiogenic factors and cytokines (13). The dynamics of the appearance of uterine NK cells suggests that one of their functions might be the control of placentation.

Potential cytotoxic mechanisms exerted by NK cells can damage the trophoblast, induce ablation of placenta, on the other hand, TNF- $\alpha$  - produced by NK cells in response to intrauterine infections - via facilitating prostaglandin synthesis may induce uterine contractions and initiate preterm labor. Decreased expression of HLA-G on the trophoblast may result in inadequate trophoblast invasion leading to an abnormal interaction with decidual natural killer (NK) cells, which are believed to play a major role in these processes through the production of immunoregulatory cytokines and angiogenic factors (14).

In mice, high peripheral NK activity was shown to be associated with deleterious effects on fetal development (15). Transfer of high NK activity spleen cells from poly (I) poly (C) -treated mice to pregnant Balb/c mice induces abortion (16). Normal human pregnancy is characterized by low peripheral NK activity (17), whereas increased NK activity seems to be an attribute of spontaneous abortions of unknown etiology (18, 19, 20, 21, 22).

 $\gamma/\delta$  T cells represent a minor subpopulation of peripheral T cells. They constitute 5 percent of the peripheral T cell population and show unique features in structure, distribution and function. Ninety five % of peripheral blood  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells express the V $\delta$ 2 chain in combination with V $\gamma$ 9 (23).  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells are enriched in mucosal surfaces of the respiratory, digestive and urogenital tracts, as well as in the placenta. In contrast to their circulating counterparts, resident  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells preferentially express the V $\delta$ 1 chain (24, 25).  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells play an important role in the elimination of several bacterial and viral infections and tumor-surveillance (24-26). Cytokine production by  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells can either facilitate the

adaptive immune response or contribute to immunoregulation and immunosuppression (27).

During pregnancy an accumulation of  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells can be observed both in the peripheral blood and in the decidua (28-30) suggesting that these cells have an important immunomodulatory role during gestation.

Invariant NKT (iNKT) cells carry - in addition to natural killer cell receptors- the strongly restricted  $V\alpha24J\alpha Q$  TCR $\alpha$  chain combined with limited TCR $\beta$  chains, usually with V $\beta11$  (31). iNKT cells recognize antigens presented by the monomorphic CD1d MHC class I like molecule (32-34). Although their natural ligand has yet to be identified, they can be activated with a glycolipid,  $\alpha$ -galactosylceramide ( $\alpha$ -GalCer) derived from a marine sponge (35, 36). Once they get activated, iNKT cells can act cytolytic via the perforin/granzyme B pathway or by expression of the Fas ligand inducing apoptosis of target cells (37- 39). On the other hand, upon CD1d restricted activation, iNKT cells quickly release cytokines of both Th1 and Th2 type leading to stimulation, activation and proliferation of T cells, B cells, or NK cells (40-42).

Fetal extravillous cytotrophoblast express CD1d and maternal iNKT cells are enriched in decidual tissue, indicating the possible role of iNKT cells in the immunological changes observed during implantation and later on during the time of pregnancy (34).

NK cells,  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells and iNKT cells have many features in common:

- All of them are able to recognize antigens in a non-MHC restricted way.
- They represent a link between the innate and the acquired immune system since they are capable of carrying out both immunoregulatory and cytotoxic functions (43-45).

- All three cell types show a specific tissue distribution profile, with significant accumulation of NK cells in the early decidua, of  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells on mucosal surfaces as well as the decidua, and of iNKT cells in the liver, the bone marrow and the decidua (34, 46, 47).
- They kill target cells by using secretory (perforin/granzyme mediated) and non-secretory mechanisms (Fas-ligand) (48, 49).
- All of them express NK inhibitory and activating receptors.

Cytotoxic activity is the result of inhibitory and activating signals, due to the interaction of cell surface activating and inhibitory receptors with ligands expressed on the surface of the target cell (50-52). Three major superfamilies of NK receptors have been described: the killer immunoglobulin (Ig)-like receptor (KIR) superfamily which recognizes classical MHC class I molecules, the C-type lectin superfamily recognizing non-classical MHC class I or class I-like molecules, and the natural cytotoxicity receptors (53).

Killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) are classified by the length of their cytoplasmic tails. The long tail KIRs (KIR2DL and KIR3DL) mediate an inhibitory signal via their immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motifs (ITIM), while the short tail receptors (KIR2DS and KIR3DS) are associated with adaptor proteins bearing immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activating motifs (ITAM) and mediate activating signals. KIR2DL1 and KIR2DL2 as well as their activating counterpart KIR2DS1, and KIR2DS2 recognize epitopes shared by alleles of the group 1 or group 2 HLA-C allotypes respectively 54). KIR2DL4 (a receptor without a short counterpart) recognizes the nonclassical MHC class I allele HLA G (55). Ligation of this receptor induces IFN-γ production, but no lytic activity.

C-type lectin receptors are composed of a common subunit (CD94) and a C-type lectin NKG2, which determines the functional specificity of the receptor (56). The inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A/B specifically binds the nonclassical class I molecule HLA-E (57-60). HLA-E is also bound by the activating receptor CD94/NKG2C, although with a lower affinity (61). NKG2D is an activating C-type lectin receptor, which does not associate with CD94 but is expressed as a homodimer, and signals through association with an adaptor protein DAP10 and phosphatidylinositol (PI)-3 kinase (62). Ligands for NKG2D include the polymorphic MHC class I chain-related (MIC) peptides, MICA and MICB (63, 64) and the human cytomegalovirus UL16 binding proteins (ULBPs) (65). These are not expressed on normal cells, but are induced by "stress" or neoplastic transformation. The expression of these ligands may, therefore, be signals of "danger" to the NK cells.

**Natural cytotoxicity receptors** are Ig-like activating receptors that have been implicated in the recognition and lysis of tumor cells by human NK cells (66, 67). Three natural cytotoxicity receptors have been described, of which two (NKp46 and NKp30) are constitutively expressed on all peripheral blood NK cells but not other immune cells, while the third, NKp44, is expressed only on IL-2-activated NK cells. The ligands for these receptors are unknown.

Activated lymphocytes from healthy pregnant women express progesterone receptors and produce a mediator protein named the **Progesterone Induced Blocking Factor (PIBF)** (68-70). PIBF plays a role in the maintenance of pregnancy by inducing a Th2 dominant cytokine production and by inhibiting NK activity (71). The immunomodulatory functions of PIBF appear to be essential for successful pregnancy, since neutralizing endogenous PIBF in pregnant mice results in fetal resorptions (72).

#### **IMPLANTATION DISORDERS**

After apposition of the blastocyst, the trophoblast starts to produce metalloproteinases and invades the decidua. Trophoblast invasion is strictly controlled both in space and time. The decidua secretes extracellular matrix molecules, e.g., collagen IV, laminin, heparan sulphate, and hydrates the tissue during the implantation window, which also promotes invasiveness of trophoblast. At the same time factors that limit trophoblast invasion are also produced. Among others, transforming growth factor (TGF)  $\beta$  inhibits trophoblast cell proliferation and induces the expression of TIMPs (tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases).

Decidual recognition of fetal HLA antigens expressed by the trophoblast contributes to the control of invasion. Interaction of uterine NK cells, iNKT cells and  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells with the non-polymorphic HLA-G and HLA-E usually induces the secretion of Th-2 type cytokines (e. g.: IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ ). On the other hand, recognition of paternal HLA-C molecules expressed on the trophoblast results in a classical inflammatory response (73-75), which by loosening the tissue facilitates trophoblast invasion. Additionally, IFN- $\gamma$  produced during inflammation promotes vascular remodeling (76).

During the first trimester, trophoblast cells penetrate the maternal decidual spiral arteries (endovascular trophoblast cells, EVTC). Until the 9th week of gestation, the decidual capillaries remain obstructed by trophoblast plugs which act like filters enabling maternal blood plasma diffusion and controlling oxygen tension (77). This process is called the first vascular invasion by the cytotrophoblast.

After the 9th week, fetal growth and development accelerate requiring a better supply of oxygen and nutrients. This is warranted by recanalization and remodelling of the

uteroplacental arteries. Endovascular trophoblast cells are built in the wall and in the interstitium of the maternal arteries resulting in dilated vessels (78). The second vascular invasion by the cytotrophoblast is completed by the 13th week of gestation.

Disturbances of implantation may manifest as early asymptomatic fetal loss, or they can also result in the development of obstetric syndromes, where pregnancy is normally established, but later on clinical symptoms develop. Impaired implantation has been identified as the underlying pathology of recurrent spontaneous abortion, pre-eclampsia and intrauterine growth retardation.

#### **Recurrent miscarriage**

Recurrent miscarriage (RM) (defined as three or more consecutive pregnancy losses) affects 0.5 to 1% of couples (79). The pathophysiology of RM is complex. The suggested causes include anatomical, genetic and molecular abnormalities, endocrine disorders, thrombophilias and anti-phospholipid syndrome. In approximately 50% of the cases neither of the above can be identified (79-81).

Most of the latter are thought to have had implantation disorders caused by inappropriate maternal immune response. During the luteal phase of the ovarian cycle, the immune response is shifted toward the Th2-type (82). Several studies confirmed a pathological activation of decidual lymphocytes in RM (83-85). Women with RM have been shown to have a Th1-dominant cytokine profile (86-90). In a prospective study, Kruse et al. (2003) found generally lower Th1/Th2 cytokine ratios in RM patients with high serum progesterone levels than in those with low serum progesterone levels, suggesting that serum progesterone might have an influence on cytokine production (91). It has been recently demonstrated that endometrial interleukin-18, -15, and -12 levels correlate negatively with

uterine receptivity (92). Potential cytotoxic mechanisms exerted by NK cells can damage the trophoblast, and induce ablation of placenta. In spite of their high perforin content, decidual NK cells show low spontaneous cytotoxic activity during normal pregnancy (93).

RM is associated with an increased number of endometrial NK cells (94), and decidual lymphocytes from failed pregnancies contain less perforin than those from normal pregnancy deciduas (95), suggesting that an increased rate of degranulation takes place in the former case. Furthermore, a dominant population of TGF-β-producing NK3 type cells in normal decidua is significantly reduced in deciduas from women with RM (96). Immunological alterations also affect the acquired immunity: the percentage of systemic CD4+ T lymphocytes, CD8+ T cytotoxic cells and CD5+ B lymphocytes is significantly higher in patients with recurrent spontaneous abortion compared to healthy women (79).

#### Pre-eclampsia

Pre-eclampsia which affects approximately 10% of pregnancies (97), is a severe and dangerous obstetrical disease characterized by high blood pressure (>140/90 Hgmm) and proteinuria (>100 mg/dl), which might result in edema (98). Several organic complications (e.g. hepatic involvement, renal failure) may associate with the syndrome and contribute to the development of eclampsia, characterized by convulsions. HELLP (*haemolytic* anaemia, *elevated liver* enzymes, *low platelet* count) syndrome is also considered to be a potential manifestation of pre-eclampsia. Since there is no prevention and effective therapy of the syndrome, screening of pregnant women and - in case of need - induction of the delivery, are the only possibilities managing pre-eclampsia.

The precipitating factor in pre-eclampsia is the pathological development of the placenta. Clinical symptoms develop after the 20th week and are present as long the placenta persists in the uterus.

It is generally agreed that pre-eclampsia develops in two stages. Pre-clinical stage 1 occurs at time of implantation when insufficient trophoblast invasion leads to poor placentation resulting in placental hypoxia. Recent data suggest that fetal antigens fail to properly activate the decidual lymphocytes, resulting in insufficient production of angiogenetic factors and the lack of a local inflammatory reaction (78, 99). The absence of the above – owing to insufficient invasion of endovascular trophoblast - leads to impaired placental development (100). Since there are no symptoms of pre-eclampsia during stage-1, it is impossible to predict and thoroughly investigate the disease at that early timepoint.

The limited uteroplacental circulation becomes functionally insufficient at the 20th week when fetal growth accelerates. Stage 2 pre-eclampsia is a systemic disease. An oxidatively stressed placenta releases factors (e.g. soluble receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) 1, neurokinin B, syncytiotrophoblast membrane microparticles) into the maternal circulation, which cause a systemic inflammatory response and endothelial dysfunction that manifest in the clinical signs of pre-eclampsia (101).

The two stages of pre-eclampsia involve the innate immune system in different ways. In the first stage, there is an important element localized to the placental bed. In the second stage, a diffuse systemic response predominates similarly to rejection mechanisms.

# Intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR)

The clinical findings of stage 1 of pre-eclampsia can manifest as either a maternalor a fetal syndrome. Intrauterine growth retardation occurs when placental deficiency decelerates fetal development leading to births of neonates with small size for gestational age (102).

#### AIMS OF THE STUDY AND RESULTS

The successful implantation of the embryo into the uterus is a pivotal event in human development which defines not only the future of the pregnancy but of the individual itself. Implantation failure (infertility) and miscarriage affect one in six couples (103), with physical, emotional and financial consequences. Poor implantation may result in intrauterine growth retardation and/or pre-eclampsia which are the major causes of fetal handicap and fetal and maternal death in Europe, and have long-term economic costs. Furthermore, it is now becoming apparent that both babies and mothers from pre-eclamptic pregnancies are much more likely to develop cardiovascular disease and diabetes in later life (104, 105), imposing a heavy burden on health care systems. It is therefore vital to identify the mechanisms that affect implantation for the diagnosis of implantation failure, miscarriage and pre-eclampsia.

The study of normal and pathological implantation raises several problems. The availability of normal human placentae is restricted. Pregnant mice have proved themselves to be excellent models for studying implantation failures by allowing the use of manipulative techniques (76, 106). However, the mouse model has its limitations. Because of the anatomical differences from the human, and a lower level of complexity in the murine implantation process (106, 107), data from animal experiments cannot be directly extrapolated to the human situation. The analysis of isolated decidual lymphocytes from elective abortion material of healthy pregnant women allows comparative studies of decidual and peripheral immunological processes at 6-12 weeks of gestation. However, the

study of late consequences of human implantation disorders is restricted to the examination of peripheral blood lymphocytes.

The aim of this study was to compare peripheral immune responses of women with different clinical manifestations of implantation disorders to those of healthy pregnant women and non-pregnant individuals.

Altogether 251 subjects were involved in the study. These included 124 healthy pregnant women, 24 women at risk for premature pregnancy termination, 41 women with severe pre-eclampsia and 62 non pregnant women. Clinical data of the patients are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1.

Clinical data of patients included in the study

Groups	Normal pregnancy (n=124)	Pre- eclampsia (n=41)	Premature labor (n=24)	Non- pregnant women (n=62)
Age (mean)	28.16	26.3	27.8	29,6
Gestational age (mean±SEM)	32.43 (24-41)	35.2 (29-41)	30.33 (24-37)	-
Parity (mean±SEM)	0.85 (0-3)	0.30 (0-2)	0.21 (0-1)	-
No. of previous miscarriages (mean±SEM)	0.30 (0-3)	0.11 (0-1)	0.47 (0-4)	-

In the first study we determined the ratio of different  $\gamma/\delta$  T cell subsets in peripheral blood of pregnant women with or without the risk of premature pregnancy termination. Furthermore, in a longitudinal study we determined the V chain usage of circulating  $\gamma/\delta$  T

cells from 23 healthy pregnant women at the 33–39th week of gestation, and that in the same women during labor. The interval between the two samplings was 4–6 weeks on the average.

Due to the lack of classical HLA antigens on most classes of the trophoblast, the majority of fetal antigens are presented in a non-MHC-restricted way. Therefore, decidual  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells are the likely candidates for recognizing these antigens. There is an increased presence of activated  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells in the decidua (108) and these cells preferentially use the V $\delta$ 1 chain (109). Findings by Mincheva-Nilsson et al. (110) suggest that the human early decidua is a transient site for extrathymic maturation. Earlier data from our laboratory revealed an increased rate of activated  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells in peripheral blood of healthy pregnant women (111). These cells similarly to decidual  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells preferentially use the V $\delta$ 1 chain (111, 112), which allows the hypothesis that these lymphocytes are of decidual origin. In healthy non-pregnant individuals 95 % of circulating  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells express the V $\gamma$ 9/V $\delta$ 2 chain combination (113). These cells are cytotoxic and play an important role in the elimination of several bacterial and viral infections and tumor-surveillance (24-26), while normal pregnancy is characterized by an expansion of the circulating non-cytotoxic V $\delta$ 1+ chain expressing subpopulation.

Our study revealed a significant increase of the potentially cytotoxic  $V\gamma9/V\delta2$  positive T cell population during labor, together with a decrease of the non-cytotoxic  $V\gamma4/V\delta1$  T-cell population.

Next we analyzed the ratio of circulating  $V\delta 2+$  and  $V\delta 1+$  T cells in normal pregnancy, in women at risk for premature pregnancy termination and in non-pregnant

controls. Compared to the controls, both  $\gamma/\delta$  T cell subsets were significantly increased in the peripheral blood of pregnant women. The percentage of V $\delta$ 2+ T cells was significantly higher, whereas the ratio of V $\delta$ 1+ T cells was significantly lower in pregnant women at risk for premature pregnancy termination than in normal pregnancy. These findings confirm our earlier data on accumulation of  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells in the peripheral blood of pregnant women. The increased ratio of V $\delta$ 2+/V $\delta$ 1+ T cells observed in women at risk for premature pregnancy termination may contribute to the unfavorable immunological conditions leading to the cessation of pregnancy.

Cytotoxic activity depends on the balance of inhibitory and activating signals, following the interaction of cell surface activating and inhibitory receptors with ligands expressed by the target cell (50-52).

NKG2A, the inhibitory NK cell receptor belongs to the C-type lectin superfamily. The ligand of NKG2A is the non-classical Class I MHC product; HLA-E, expressed by the trophoblast. The majority of decidual  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells express the CD94/NKG2A complex (114, 115). Analyzing the NKG2A expression on peripheral blood V $\delta$ 2+ T cells, we found a significantly lower expression on those of women at risk of premature pregnancy termination and of non-pregnant subjects than on V $\delta$ 2+ T cells from healthy pregnant women. This data suggest that V $\delta$ 2+ T cells of women at risk for premature pregnancy termination are less capable of recognizing HLA-E, thus they are less likely to receive the inhibitory signals that would prevent cell activation than V $\delta$ 2+ T cells of healthy pregnant women.

Viability of lymphocytes determines the duration of effector mechanisms. When expressed on the cell surface, annexins promote pro-apoptotic mechanisms, or alternatively,

the removal of cells that have undergone apoptosis. Therefore, we determined the expression of Annexin V on circulating  $V\delta2+T$  cells. The percentage of Annexin  $V+V\delta2+T$  cells was significantly lower in patients at risk for premature pregnancy termination than in healthy pregnant women indicating reduced tendency for apoptosis and a longer lifespan of cytotoxic  $V\delta2+T$  cells in this condition. Annexin is also known as lipocortin. Lipocortins suppress phospholipase A2. This is the mechanism by which glucocorticoids inhibit inflammation, but since activation of phospholipase A2 is needed for the liberation of arachidonic acid, annexins also interfere with prostaglandin production. Increased production of annexin by inhibiting the activity of phospholipase A2, will block prostaglandin production, thus delay the induction of labor. (116)

Taken together the above data suggest the possible role of  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells in the pathogenesis of threatened premature pregnancy termination. The dominance of the potentially cytotoxic V $\delta$ 2+ subset, with decreased NKG2A expression and reduced apoptotic capacity might contribute to the lack of a Th2 shift and to the pathophysiology of high risk pregnancy. (**Paper 1**)

Improper implantation and poor placentation usually result in early pregnancy loss, yet in a part of the cases pregnancy proceeds normally, till the beginning of the third trimester, when the limited utero-placental circulation cannot further comply with the requirements of the fetus. Th1-type responses turn to be dominant; the mild inflammatory response associated with normal implantation becomes systemic and exaggerated, and finally clinical symptoms appear.

Next we focused on the role  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells and immunoregulatory mechanisms in stage 2 pre-eclampsia.

Cell-mediated cytotoxicity takes place either via the perforin/granzyme-mediated secretory/necrotic killing or the TNF family ligand-mediated apoptotic killing. In the first case; following target-cell recognition, the contents of the cytotoxic granule are released into the immunological synapse formed between the killer cell and its target. Cytotoxic granules contain two membrane-perturbing proteins, perforin and granulysin and a group of serine proteases called granzymes (117-120). Perforin, a Ca2+-dependent pore-forming protein shows homology with complement components. Perforin monomers are inserted into the plasma membrane of target cells and polymerize into pore-forming aggregates (121), which leads to granzyme entry and lysis. In the cytoplasm granzymes activate a cascade of caspases, leading to activation of DNAse, and resulting in apoptosis. Granulysin inserts into cell membranes, inducing ion fluxes and the induction of apoptosis (122, 123).

The intracellular expression of perforin and IFN- $\gamma$  by V $\delta$ 2+ T cells was significantly higher both in pre-eclamptic patients and in non-pregnant individuals than in healthy pregnant women, suggesting an enhanced cytotoxic capacity of the V $\delta$ 2+ cell population from pre-eclamptic women.

Apoptosis is an important immunoregulatory mechanism that occurs in a wide variety of physiological and pathological situations, since the viability of lymphocytes determines the duration time of effector mechanisms. Two important apoptosis-inducing pathways include the TNF-induced and the Fas-Fas ligand -mediated mechanisms, both involving members of the TNF receptor (TNFR) family. The Fas/FasL pathway is important in many cellular events including the induction of apoptotic cell death and inflammation. Fas ligand (FasL), a Type II transmembrane protein is a member of the TNF

family. FasL is stored in specialized secretory lysosomes of the cytotoxic cells and is only delivered to the cell surface upon recognition of Fas on the target cell. Membrane bound FasL triggers apoptosis of the Fas-expressing cell (124). We found a decreased Fas (CD95) expression on  $V\delta2+$  cells of pre-eclamptic women, which suggests an impaired apoptotic potential of these cells.

Analyzing inhibitory and activating NK cell receptor expression we found that the expression of the inhibitory receptor NKG2A by V $\delta$ 2+ T cells of pre-eclamptic patients was significantly lower, than by those of healthy pregnant- or non-pregnant women. CD94/NKG2C is the activating counterpart of CD95/NKG2A. V $\delta$ 2+ T cells of pre-eclamptic women expressed significantly more NKG2C than those of women with normal pregnancy or those of non-pregnant controls. The rate of co-expression of the two receptors (NKG2A/NKG2C) on V $\delta$ 2+ T cells of pregnant women with pre-eclampsia was significantly lower than on those of women with normal pregnancies or of non-pregnant women.

The expansion and differentiation of Th precursor populations into Th1 or Th2 pathways regulate immune responses to bacteria, viruses, autoantigens and alloantigens. The magnitude of T cell responses is influenced by cytokines and a group of accessory molecules including immunoglobulin superfamily members. TIM-3 (T cell immunoglobulin mucin 3) - an immunoglobulin superfamily member - has recently been identified as a negative regulator of tissue destructive immune responses. TIM-3 is preferentially expressed by Th1 cells (125, 126). Expression of this molecule by Th1 cells provides a key checkpoint that serves to dampen pro-inflammatory Th1-dependent T cell responses and limit the associated tissue injury. We found significantly decreased

expression of TIM-3 by V $\delta$ 2+T cells of pre-eclamptic women, which could account for the increased inflammatory property of these cells. TIM-3 exerts a direct inhibitory signal to the Th1 cells, thus increased frequency of perforin and IFN- $\gamma$  producing V $\delta$ 2+ T cells in pre-eclamptic patients could simply be due to the lack of the TIM-3 mediated regulatory effect.

Regulatory T cells (CD4+CD25<sup>bright</sup> T cells) play a central role in the maintenance of self tolerance as well as in the long-term acceptance of allogenic transplants (127, 128). Sanches-Fueyo et al. demonstrated that the TIM-3-dependent pathway is involved in the CD4+CD25+ T cell-dependent immunoregulation (129). Among CD4+CD25+T cells those with high fluorescence intensity of CD25 have been identified as the ones that exert regulatory functions (130), while expression of low levels of CD25 by CD4+ T cells appears to indicate T cell activation. Inadequate tolerance induction increases the risk of pre-eclampsia. Recent data have shown that CD4+CD25+ Treg cells are essential in the maintenance of allo-pregnancy in mice (131). Furthermore, decreased levels of Treg cells have been observed in the peripheral blood of patients with spontaneous abortion (132). In our expreiments, the percentage of CD4+CD25<sup>bright</sup> T cells of gated lymphocytes was significantly lower in pre-eclamptic pregnant women than in non-pregnant controls, but the difference from healthy pregnant women did not reach the level of statistical significance.

Following activation, T cells begin to induce the expression of Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), which shows a high sequence homology with CD28, and competes with CD28 for B7 molecules (127). CD28 is one of the molecules expressed on T cells that provide the co-stimulatory signals, which are required for T cell activation. CD28 is constitutively expressed on naïve T cells and serves as the receptor for B7 molecules

expressed by antigen presenting cells. B7 expression is upregulated in activated antigen presenting cells. Stimulation through CD28 in addition to the TCR can provide a potent costimulatory signal to T cells for the production of various cytokines. The percentage of CD4+CD25<sup>bright</sup> T cells among gated lymphocytes was significantly lower, while the percentage of CTLA-4 expressing cells among CD4+CD25<sup>bright</sup> T cells was significantly higher in pre-eclamptic pregnant women than in non-pregnant controls, and healthy pregnant women. This observation indicates that though present at a lower frequency, a higher percentage of CD4+CD25<sup>bright</sup> T cells is activated in pre-eclamptic patients than in healthy individuals.

Our data indicate that V $\delta$ 2+T cells of pre-eclamptic patients demonstrate an increased perforin and IFN- $\gamma$  expression, which could be explained by dysregulation of NK cell receptor expression. These Th1 polarized cells were less susceptible to apoptosis than V $\delta$ 2+ T cells from healthy pregnant women. Activated V $\delta$ 2+ T cells of pre-eclamptic women have an increased cytotoxic potential, which may be explained by the altered expression of NK cell inhibitory and activating receptors. Taken together, this series of observations suggest the role of multiple pathways in generating an exaggerated systemic inflammatory response observed in the 2nd, clinical phase of pre-eclampsia. (**Paper 2**)

Invariant NKT (iNKT) cells serve as a link between the innate and the acquired immune system. Depending upon the circumstances, they are able both to exert cytotoxicity and to regulate the function of other cells by secreting cytokines. iNKT cells are significantly enriched in the decidua (34), thus these cells might also have a role in regulating local immune responses during pregnancy, and if so, an altered function of iNKT cells could also play a part in the development of pathologies. In order to test whether

altered iNKT cell function might contribute to the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia, we compared the percentage of activated-, perforin containing- as well as IFN-γ-producing- and apoptotic iNKT cells of pre-eclamptic patients to those of healthy pregnant women and non-pregnant individuals.

First, we determined the activation rate of iNKT cells by measuring the expression of CD69. The percentage of CD69 positive activated iNKT cells was significantly higher in pre-eclamptic patients than in healthy pregnant or non-pregnant women.

In pre-eclamptic patients, the percentage of potentially cytotoxic, perforin expressing iNKT cells was found to be significantly higher compared to healthy pregnant women. Similar elevation of perforin expression by iNKT cells was found in non-pregnant individuals, compared to healthy pregnant women. In line with this, in pre-eclamptic patients and in non pregnant women the percentage of circulating IFN-γ expressing iNKT cells was significantly higher than in healthy pregnant woman. These data suggest, that activated iNKT cells functionally contribute to the enhanced inflammatory immune response observed in pre-eclampsia.

Apoptotic potential of iNKT cells was determined by measuring Fas (CD95) expression. We found that in healthy pregnant women significantly more iNKT cells express CD95, than in either pre-eclamptic patients or non-pregnant individuals predicting a longer lifespan of activated, cytotoxic iNKT cells in pre-eclampsia.

The observed activation and Th1 profile of iNKT cells in pre-eclamptic patients may be induced by signals transmitted by different NK cell receptors on their surface. Hence, we investigated the distribution of NK cell activating and inhibitory receptors on these cells. There was no difference in the expression of the activating NKG2D receptor by

iNKT cells among the groups, whereas the percentages of iNKT cells expressing the inhibitory receptor NKG2A as well as of those co-expressing NKG2A and NKG2D were significantly lower in pre-eclamptic patients than in healthy pregnant women. The percentage of NKG2A expression on NKG2D+ iNKT cells was also significantly lower in pre-eclamptic patients than in healthy pregnant women or in non-pregnant women. Altered NK cell receptor expression may lead to restricted inhibitory signal transduction, and contribute to the development of activated, Th1 type iNKT cells, seen in pre-eclamptic patients. (Paper 3)

These data suggest that among others, several minor lymphocyte subsets, including  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells, regulatory T cells and invariant NKT cells play a role in the development of poor implantation-related pregnancy pathologies.

In addition to the relative dominance of the cytotoxic population of  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells, owing to an imbalance of NK activating and inhibitory receptors, all three lymphocyte populations gain a cytotoxic function, and contribute to exaggerated systemic inflammatory responses, that are characteristic of pregnancy termination as well as of the late stage of pre-eclampsia.

#### **THESES**

#### In women at risk for premature pregnancy termination:

- 1. Circulating V $\delta$ 2+ T lymphocytes are increased in number indicating their possible role in this pathological condition.
- 2. The percentage of  $V\delta 1+T$  cells is significantly lower than in healthy pregnant women resulting in reduced production of  $\gamma/\delta T$  cell-derived Th2 type cytokines.
- 3. The ratio of V $\delta$ 2+ / V $\delta$ 1+ T cells is significantly higher than in healthy pregnant women suggesting the dominance of the potentially cytotoxic V $\delta$ 2+ T cell population over V $\delta$ 1+ T lymphocytes.
- 4. Circulating Vδ2 TCR + cells express less NKG2A than those of healthy pregnant women resulting in a reduced capacity of transducing inhibitory signals.
- 5. The number of apoptotic  $V\delta2+$  T cells is significantly decreased compared to healthy pregnant controls. This phenomenon may explain the increased number of  $V\delta2+$  T cells observed in the pathological condition.

## In peripheral blood of women with pre-eclampsia:

- 6. Intracellular expression of perforin by  $V\delta2+$  T cells is significantly higher than in those with normal pregnancy or non-pregnant individuals.
- 7. The expression of the IFN- $\gamma$  by V $\delta$ 2+ T cells is significantly higher than in healthy pregnant women.

- 8. CD95 expression by Vδ2+ T cells is significantly lower than in non-pregnant women indicating reduced apoptotic potential.
- 9. The expression of the NK inhibitory receptor NKG2A by V $\delta$ 2+ T cells is found to be significantly lower in than in those with normal pregnancy or non-pregnant women.
- 10. NKG2C expression by  $V\delta2+$  T cells is significantly higher than in normal pregnancy or non-pregnant women. Therefore, activating signals could be transmitted more efficiently in these cells.
- 11. In pre-eclampsia, the NKG2A/NKG2C co-expression by V $\delta$ 2+ T cells is significantly reduced compared to those with normal pregnancy or non-pregnant women.
- 12. The percentage of  $V\delta 2+$  cells expressing NKG2A together with NKG2C is significantly lower than in healthy pregnant women, indicating a reduced inhibitory capacity of the NK activating receptor positive cells.
- 13. TIM-3 expression on Vδ2+T cells is significantly decreased compared to healthy pregnant women. These finding suggest a failure to control the tissue destructive immune responses observed in pre-eclampsia.
- 14. The frequency of peripheral blood CD4+CD25<sup>bright</sup> cells is lower than in healthy pregnant or non-pregnant women contributing to an impaired management of systemic inflammation.
- 15. The percentage of CTLA-4 expressing cells among CD4+CD25<sup>bright</sup> T cells is significantly higher than that in healthy pregnant or in non-pregnant women, suggesting an enhanced activation of this cell population in pre-eclampsia.

- 16. There is a significantly higher percentage of activated iNKT cells than in healthy pregnant women.
- 17. The number of peripheral perforin producing iNKT cells is significantly increased compared to healthy pregnant controls suggesting a potential cytolytic activity of these cells.
- 18. IFN-γ expression by iNKT cells is significantly higher than in healthy pregnant woman, indicating a Th1 profile of iNKT cells.
- 19. Apoptotic capacity of peripheral iNKT cells is significantly reduced compared to healthy pregnant women, suggesting a longer lifespan of these cells.
- 20. The percentage of iNKT cells expressing the inhibitory receptor NKG2A as well as of those co-expressing NKG2A and NKG2D are significantly reduced. These results confirm that iNKT cells show an altered NK cell receptor expression pattern compared to those in normal pregnancy, and consequently inhibitory signals might be transmitted less efficiently.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Separation of peripheral blood lymphocytes

Lymphocytes were isolated from heparinized peripheral blood on Ficoll Paque gradient, washed twice with RPMI 1640 medium and adjusted to a cell count of  $1x10^6$ /ml. The cells were incubated with appropriate concentrations of different monoclonal antibodies or conjugated to target cells.

## Monoclonal antibodies

The following mAbs were used:

Origin	Specificity of antibody	Clone	Manufacturer
Surface	Surface staining		
mouse	anti-human TCR Vδ2	clone 15D	T-cell Diagnostic Inc.,
			Woburn, MA, USA
mouse	anti-human TCR Vδ2 –	clone B6.1	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
	FITC		Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human TCR Vδ1-	clone TS8.2	T-cell Diagnostic Inc.,
	FITC		Woburn, MA, USA
mouse	anti-human CD 69-APC	clone FN50	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
			Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human invariant	clone 6B11	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
	NKT-FITC		Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human CD95-PE	clone DX2	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow

			Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human NKG2A-PE	clone Z199	Immunotech, Csertex Kft,
			Hungary
mouse	anti-human NKG2A-APC	clone 131411	R&D Systems, Biomedica
			Hungária Kft.
mouse	anti-human NKG2D-APC	clone 149810	R&D Systems, Biomedica
			Hungária Kft.
mouse	anti-human NKG2C-PE	clone 134591	R&D Systems, Biomedica
			Hungária Kft.
mouse	anti-human CD4 -FITC	clone-RPA-T4	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
			Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human CD25-FITC	clone-M-A251	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
			Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human TIM-3	clone 344823	R&D Systems, Biomedica
			Hungária Kft.
mouse	anti-human CTLA-4 -	clone-BNI3	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
	PECy5		Hungary Kft., Hungary
goat	anti-FITC IgG Microbeads		Miltenyi Biotec, Frank
			Diagnosztika, Hungary
goat	anti-mouse biotin		Amersham-Pharmacia
			Biotech, Hungary

Intrace	llular staining		
mouse	anti-human perforin-PE	clone 27-35	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
			Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human IL-10-APC	clone JES3-19F1	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
			Hungary Kft., Hungary
mouse	anti-human IFN-γ-APC	clone B27	BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow
			Hungary Kft., Hungary

Control antibodies included isotype-matched unlabeled, furthermore, PE-conjugated, APC-conjugated, FITC-conjugated and PECy5-conjugated mouse antibodies (BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow Hungary Kft. Hungary).

#### MiniMACS γδ T cell separation

Vδ2+ T cells were separated using MiniMACS immunomagnetic beads, following the instructions of the manufacturer (Miltenyi Biotec, Frank Diagnosztika, Hungary). Briefly, cells were washed with PBS and resuspended at a cell count of 1x10<sup>7</sup>/ml in PBS containing 0,5% BSA (Sigma Aldrich Kft., Hungary) and 2 mM of EDTA. Ten million cells were incubated for 10 minutes at 4°C with 10 μg anti-Vδ2 mAb. After incubation, lymphocytes were washed twice and resuspended in 80 μl buffer and 20 μl of Goat anti-Mouse IgG Microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec, Frank Diagnosztika, Hungary) were added. Cells were incubated for 15 minutes at 4°C, and then washed. Pelleted cells were resuspended in 500 μl buffer and applied to a MiniMACS column fitted to a magnet. The column was washed six times and then removed from the magnetic separator. The magnetic adherent

cells were flushed out of the column into a fresh tube using a plunger included in the MiniMACS Kit. Magnetic adherent cells were washed and  $10^5$  cells were incubated with an appropriate dilution of FITC conjugated anti-V $\delta$ 2 mAb for 30 minutes. During incubation, samples were protected from light. After washing, the cells were resuspended in 250  $\mu$ l FACS buffer containing 1% paraformaldehyde and stored at 4°C, in dark, to be processed for FACS analysis the following day. The purity of the resulting cell suspension was checked by FACS analysis. Usually a 75 to 80 % enrichment of V $\delta$ 2 TCR positive cells was obtained.

# Labeling of lymphocytes and flow cytometric analysis

 $50~\mu l$  heparinized venous blood; diluted with an equal volume of 10% FCS containing RPMI 1640 was incubated for 30~minutes at room temperature with the fluorochrome-labeled monoclonal antibodies.

After surface staining, the cells were incubated with 1:10 diluted FACS Lysing Solution (BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow Hungary Kft. Hungary) for 10 minutes and washed twice with PBS buffer. Finally the cells were resuspended in 300  $\mu$ l PBS containing 1% paraformaldehyde, and stored at 4  $^{\circ}$ C in dark until FACS analysis.

For detecting perforin positive cells, after surface labeling the cells were incubated with 1:10 diluted FACS Permeabilizing Solution (BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow Hungary Kft. Hungary) for 10 minutes and then washed with PBS. The cells were then incubated with PE-conjugated mouse anti-human perforin for 30 minutes at room temperature, washed with PBS and fixed with PBS containing 1% paraformaldehyde.

For detecting cytokine positive cells, 500 µl heparinized venous blood was diluted 1:1 with RPMI1640 containing 10% FCS and 10 µg brefeldin A, 25 ng phorbol myristyl acetate and 1 µg ionomycin (all from Sigma-Aldrich Kft., Hungary). The samples were incubated for 4 hours at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After stimulation the cells were labeled by surface staining. After surface labeling the cells were incubated with 1:10 diluted FACS Permeabilizing Solution (BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow Hungary Kft. Hungary) for 10 minutes and then washed with PBS. The cells were then incubated with the labeled antihuman cytokine antibody for 30 minutes at room temperature, washed with PBS and fixed with PBS containing 1% paraformaldehyde.

Labeled cells were analyzed with a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson Immunocytometry Systems) equipped with the CellQuest software program (Becton Dickinson) for data acquisition and analysis.

## Apoptosis of Vδ2+ T cells by annexin V staining

Magnetic bead-separated V $\delta$ 2+ lymphocytes were adjusted to a concentration of  $1x10^5$ /mL of annexin-binding buffer, and 1-ml aliquots were centrifuged in FACS tubes. The cells were labeled for 15 minutes at room temperature in 100 µl annexin binding buffer with 10 µl biotinilated annexin V (BD-Pharmingen, Soft Flow Hungary Kft., Pécs, Hungary). Cells were washed with annexin-binding buffer, resuspended in 100 µl annexin-binding buffer, and stained with 10 µl Streptavidin-APC (BD Pharmingen, Soft Flow Hungary Kft. Hungary) and 10 µl propidium iodide (PI, Sigma-Aldrich Kft., Hungary) by gently mixing for 15 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Binding buffer was added to each tube to restore the volume to 300 µl, and the samples were analyzed by FACSort. In

setting compensation, cells stained with annexin V alone or PI alone were used. Apoptotic cells stain with annexin V, while necrotic cells stain with both annexin V and PI.

#### **Statistics**

In paper1, the two-tailed Student's t-test and the paired t-test were used for statistical evaluation of the data. Differences were considered significant if the P value was equal to or less than 0.05.

In paper 2 and paper 3, data were expressed as median. Statistical analysis was performed using statistical software SPSS version 11.0 package (SPSS, Inc. Chicago, IL). Group comparisons were made using non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test. Differences were accepted as significant at a level of p<0.05.

# **SUMMARY**

The process of implantation and placentation are immunologically unique phenomena during which, immunocompetent fetal tissue invades the endometrium creating a successful collaboration between the two different sites . Fetal antigens are presented on the invading trophoblast, partly in context with HLA-C, a limited amount of which is expressed on certain trophoblast populations. The non-classical Class I molecules; HLA-G and HLA-E are highly expressed by the trophoblast. Recognition of these molecules by resident lymphocytes results in a mild local inflammatory response that is needed for implantation. NK cells, iNKT cells,  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells are highly enriched in the decidua. All of them possess activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors for MHC molecules, which enable them to distinguish maternal self from fetal non-self.

Successful implantation is controlled by a precisely tuned balance of activating and inhibitory mechanisms. The establishment of an invasive phenotype in the trophoblast involves a host of cellular processes and an array of expression and/or repression of several genes involved in cell adhesion, composition of the extra-cellular matrix, matrix digestion, angiogenesis, apoptosis or cell cycle arrest.

Activation of NK cells, iNKT cells,  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells leads to local inflammatory processes, which results in extracellular matrix digestion, (thus facilitating trophoblast invasion) and enhances angiogenesis of the developing placenta. At the same time, non-classical HLA molecules convey immunotolerance by moderating the inflammatory process. The local immunological changes are reflected in the maternal peripheral blood.

Disturbances of implantation and placentation constitute the pathological background of recurrent miscarriage, pre-eclampsia or intrauterine growth retardation.

Maladaptation of both local and systemic immune responses can be observed in women suffering from the above disorders.

In recurrent aborters local and systemic inflammatory processes become exaggerated with dominating Th1 responses, particularly by lymphocytes of the innate immune system. Due to poor vascularization of the placenta at the time of implantation, an enhanced systemic inflammation presents in the third trimester resulting in preeclampsia. Because of an increased decidual resistance to trophoblast invasion, placental development and remodeling of the spiral arteries is not supported. These pathological changes manifest in clinical symptoms when fetal growth accelerates and placental blood supply becomes insufficient. Subsequently, the placenta becomes oxidatively stressed and releases factors in the maternal circulation that elicit a strong activation of the immune system. Activated lymphocytes secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, show increased cytotoxic potential and reduced apoptotic capacity. The generalized inflammation affects several maternal organs and persists as long as the placenta is attached to the uterus.

Successful implantation and placentation requires a close cooperation and active communication between fetal and maternal tissues. Initially, disorders of the process manifest in local pathological phenomena, however this is usually followed by systemic changes. Early diagnosis of these conditions is essential for targeted health care and management. Identification of circulating markers of fetal/placental and maternal pathology in patients will enable researchers to understand the underlying mechanisms and translate their findings to new therapies, and ultimately prevention of these devastating diseases.

#### **PAPERS**

## Paper 1

Szereday L., Barakonyi A., Miko E., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.:  $\gamma\delta$  T cell subsets, NKG2A expression and apoptosis of V $\delta$ 2+ T cells in pregnant women with or without risk for premature pregnancy termination. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2003; 6: 490-496.

### Paper 2

Miko E., Szereday L., Barakonyi A., Jarkovich A., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: Immunoactivation in pre-eclampsia:  $V\delta 2+$  and regulatory T cells during the inflammatory stage. J. Reprod. Immunol.(in press)

## Paper 3

Miko E., Szereday L., Barakonyi A., Jarkovich A., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: The role of invariant NKT cells in pre-eclampsia. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2008;60:118-126.

### REFERENCES

- Psychoyos A.: Hormonal control of ovoimplantation. Vitam. Horm. 1973;31:201-256.
- 2. Red-Horse K., Zhou Y., Genbacev O., Prakobphol A., Foulk R., McMaster M., Fisher S. J.: Trophoblast differentiation during embryo implantation and formation of the maternal-fetal interface. J. Clin. Investig. 2004;114:744-154.
- 3. Pijnenborg R.: Establishment of uteroplacental circulation. Reprod. Nutr. Develop. 1988;28:1581-1586.
- 4. Strickland S., Richards W.G.: Invasion of the trophoblast. Cell 1992;71:355-357.
- Loke Y.W., A. King: Human Implantation: Cell Biology and Immunology.
   Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 1995; 299-315.
- King A., Allan D.S.J., Bowen J.M., Powis S.J., Joseph S., Verma S., Hiby S.E., McMichael A.J., Loke Y.W., Braud V.M.: HLA-E is expressed on trophoblast and interacts with CD94/NKG2 receptors on decidual NK cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 2000;30:1623-1631.
- 7. King A., Burrows T.D., Hiby S.E., Joseph S., Verma S., Lim P.B., Gardner L., Bowen J.M., Ziegler A., Uchanska-Ziegler B., Loke Y.W: Surface expression of HLA-C antigen by human extravillous trophoblast. Placenta 2000;21:376-387.
- 8. Hiby S.E., King A., Sharkey A., Loke Y.W.: Molecular studies of trophoblast HLA-G polymorphism, isoforms, imprinting and expression in pre-implantation embryo. Tissue Ant. 1999;53:1-13.

- 9. Hutter H., Hammer A., Blaschitz A., Hartmann M., Ebbesen P., Dohr G., Ziegler A., Uschanka-Ziegler B.: Expression of HLA class I molecules in human first trimester and term placenta trophopblast. Cell Tissue Res. 1996;286:439-447.
- 10. Diehl M., Munz C., Keilholz W., Stevanovic S., Holmes N., Loke Y.W., Rammensee H.G.: Nonclassical HLA-G molecules are classical peptide presenters. Curr. Bio. 1996;6:305-314.
- 11. King A., Burrows T., Verma S., Hiby S., Loke Y.W.: Human uterine lymphocytes. Hum. Reprod. Update. 1998;4:480-485.
- 12. Rukavina D., Rubesa G., Gudelj L., Haller H., Podack E.R.: Characteristics of perforin expressing lymphocytes within the first trimester decidua of human pregnancy. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1995;33:394-404.
- 13. Koopman L.A., Kopcow H.D., Rybalov B., Boyson J.E., Orange J.S., Schatz F., Masch R., Lockwood C.J., Schachter A.D., Park P.J., Strominger J.L.: Human decidual natural killer cells are a unique NK cell subset with immunomodulatory potential. J. Exp. Med. 2003;198:1201-1212.
- 14. Sargent I.L., Borzychowski A.M., Redman C.W.: Immunoregulation in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia: an overview. Reprod. Biomed. Online. 2006;13:680-686.
- 15. De Fougerolles A.R., Baines M.G.: Modulation of the natural killer cell activity in pregnant mice alters the spontaneous abortion rate. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1987;11:147-153.
- 16. Kinsky R., Delage G., Rosin N., Thang M.N., Hoffmann M., Chaouat G.: A murine model of NK cell mediated resorption. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1990;23:73-77.

- Aoki K., Kajiura S., Matsumoto Y., Ogasawara M., Okada S., Yagami Y., Gleicher
   N.: Preconceptional natural-killer-cell activity as a predictor of miscarriage. Lancet.
   1995;345:1340-1342.
- 18. Fukui A., Fujii S., Yamaguchi E., Kimura H., Sato S., Saito Y.: Natural killer cell subpopulations and cytotoxicity for infertile patients undergoing in vitro fertilization. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1999;41:413-422.
- 19. Ntrivalas E.I., Kwak-Kim J.Y., Gilman-Sachs A., Chung-Bang H., Ng S.C., Beaman K.D., Mantouvalos H.P., Beer A.E.: Status of peripheral blood natural killer cells in women with recurrent spontaneous abortions and infertility of unknown aetiology. Hum. Reprod. 2001;16:855-861.
- 20. Ntrivalas E.I., Bowser C.R., Kwak-Kim J., Beaman K.D., Gilman-Sachs A.: Expression of killer immunoglobulin-like receptors on peripheral blood NK cell subsets of women with recurrent spontaneous abortions or implantation failures. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2005;53:215-221.
- 21. Shakhar K., Ben-Eliyahu S., Loewenthal R., Rosenne E., Carp H.: Differences in number and activity of peripheral natural killer cells in primary versus secondary recurrent miscarriage. Fertil. Steril. 2003;80:368-375.
- 22. Morikawa M., Yamada H., Kato E.H., Shimada S., Ebina Y., Yamada T., Sagawa T., Kobashi G., Fujimoto S.: NK cell activity and subsets in women with a history of spontaneous abortion. Cause, number of abortions, and subsequent pregnancy outcome. Gynecol. Obstet. Invest. 2001;52:163-167.
- 23. Kabelitz D., Glatzer A., Welsh D.: Antigen recognition by human γδ T lymphocytes. Int. Arch. Allergy and Immunol. 2000;122:1–7.

- 24. Carding S.R., Egan P.J.: γδT cells: functional plasticity and heterogeneity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2002;2:336-345.
- 25. Chen ZW: Comparative biology of γδT cells. Science proggress. 2002;85:347-358.
- 26. Groh V., Steinle A., Bauer S., Spies T.: Recognition of stress-induced MHC molecules by intestinal epithelial γδT cells. Science. 1998;279:1737-1740.
- 27. Born W., Cady C., Jones-Carson J., Mukasa A., Lahn M., O'Brien R.: Immunoregulatory functions of gamma delta T cells. Adv. Immunol. 1999;71:77-144.
- 28. Polgar B., Barakonyi A., Xynos I., Szekeres-Bartho J.: The role of γ/δ T cell receptor positive cells in pregnancy. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1999;41:239–244.
- 29. Barakonyi A., Polgar B., Szekeres-Bartho J.: The role of γ/δ T-cell positive cells in pregnancy: part II. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1999;42:83–87.
- 30. Mincheva Nilsson L., Hammerstrom S., Hammerstrom M.L.: Human decidual leukocytes from early pregnancy contain high numbers of γδ+ cells and show selective down-regulation of alloreactivity. J. Immunol. 1992;149:2203–2211.
- 31. Porcelli S., Gerdes D., Fertig A.M., Balk S.P.: Human T cells expressing an invariant V alpha 24-J alpha Q TCR alpha are CD4- and heterogeneous with respect to TCR beta expression. Hum. Immunol. 1996;48:63-67.
- 32. Porcelli S.A., Modlin R.L.: The CD1d system: antigen presenting molecules for T cell recognition of lipids and glycolipids. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1999;17:297-329.
- 33. Exley M., Garcia J., Balk S.P., Porcelli S.: Requirements for CD1d recognition by human invariant Vα24<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> T cells. J. Exp. Med. 1997;186:109-120.

- 34. Boyson J.E., Rybalov B., Koopman L.A., Exley M., Balk S.P., Racke F.K., Schatz F., Masch R., Wilson S.B., Strominger J.L.. CD1d and invariant NKT cells at the human maternal-fetal interface. PNAS 2002;99:13741-13746.
- 35. Kawano T., Cui J., Koezuka Y., Toura I., Kaneko Y., Motoki K., Ueno H., Nakagawa R., Sato H., Kondo E., Koseki H., Taniguchi M.: CD1d restricted and TCR-mediated activation of Vα14NKT cells by glycosylceramides. Science 1997;278:1626-1629.
- 36. Spada F.M., Koezuka Y., Porcelli S.A.: CD1d-restricted recognition of synthetic glycolipid antigens by human natural killer T cells. J. Exp. Med. 1998;188:1529-1534.
- 37. Street S.E., Cretney E., Smyth M.J.: Perforin and interferon-γ independently control tumor initiation, growth, and metastasis. Blood 2001; 97:192-197.
- 38. Kawano T., Nakayama T., Kamada N., Kaneko Y., Harada M., Ogura N., Akutsu Y., Motohashi S., Iizasa T., Endo H., Fujisawa T., Shinkai H., Taniguchi M.: Antitumor cytotoxicity mediated by ligand-activated human V alpha24 NKT cells. Cancer Res. 1999;59:5102-5105.
- 39. Smyth M.J., Thi K.Y., Street S.E., Cretney E., Trapani J.A., Taniguchi M., Kawano T., Pelikan S.B., Crowe N.Y., Godfrey D.I.: Differential tumor surveillance by natural killer (NK) and NKT cells. J. Exp. Med. 2000;191:661-668.
- 40. Carnaud C., Lee D., Donnaris O., Park S.H., Beavis A., Koezuka Y., Bendelac A.: Cross-talk between cells of the innate immune system: NKT cells rapidly activate NK cells. J. Immunol. 1999;163:4647-4650.

- 41. Singh N., Hong S., Scherer D.C., Serizawa I., Burdin N., Kronenberg M., Koezuka Y., Van Kaer L.: Cutting edge:activation of NK T cells by CD1d and alphagalactosylceramide directs conventional T cells to the acquisition of Th2 phenotype. J. Immunol. 1999;163:2373-2377.
- 42. Galli G., Nuti S., Tavarini S., Gali-Stampino L., De Lalla C., Casorati G., Dellabona P., Abrignani S.: CD1d restricted help to B cells by human invariant natural killer T lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 2003;197:1051-1057.
- 43. Constant P., Davodeau F., Peyrat M.A., Poquet Y., Puzzo G., Bonneville M., Fournie J.J.: Stimulation of human γδ T cells by nonpeptidic mycobacterial ligands. Science 1994;264:267.
- 44. Tanaka Y., Morita C.T., Tanaka Y., Nieves E., Brenner M.B., Bloom B.R.: Natural and synthetic nonpeptide antigens recognized by human γδ T cells. Nature 1995;375:155.
- 45. Burk M. R., Mori L., DeLibero G.: Human Vγ9-Vδ2 cells are stimulated in a cross-reactive fashion by a variety of phosphorylated metabolites. Eur. J. Immunol. 1995;25:2052-2058.
- 46. Exley M.A., He Q., Cheng O., Wang R.J., Cheney C.P., Balk S.P., Koziel M.J.: Cutting edge: compartmentalization of Th1-like noninvariant CD1d-reactive T cells in hepatitis C virus-infected liver. J. Immunol. 2002;168:1519-1523.
- 47. Exley M.A., Tahir S.M., Cheng O., Shaulov A., Joyce R., Avigan D., Sackstein R., Balk S.P.: A major fraction of human bone marrow lymphocytes are Th2-like CD1d reactive T cells that can suppress mixed lymphocyte responses. J. Immunol. 2001;167:5531-5534.

- 48. Kagi D., Ledermann B., Burki K., Seiler P., Odermatt B., Olsen K., Podack E.P.,. Zinkernagel R.M, Hengartner H.: Cytotoxicity mediated by T cells and natural killer cells is greatly impaired in perforin-deficient mice. Nature 1994;369:31-37.
- 49. Arase H., Arase N., Saito T.: Fas-mediated cytotoxicity by freshly isolated natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 1995;181:1235-1238.
- 50. Ljunggren H.G., Kärre K.: In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. Immunol. Today. 1990;11:237-244.
- 51. Long E.O.: Regulation of immune responses through inhibitory receptors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1999;17:875-904.
- 52. Moretta L., Biassoni R., Bottino C., Mingari M.C., Moretta A.: Human NK-cell receptors. Immunol. Today. 2000;21:420-422.
- 53. Lanier L.L.: NK cell recognition. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2005;23:225-274.
- 54. Mandelboim O., Reyburn H.T., Valés-Gómez M., Pazmany L., Colonna M., Borsellino G., Strominger J.L.: Protection from lysis by natural killer cells of group 1 and 2 specificity is mediated by residue 80 in human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen C alleles and also occurs with empty major histocompatibility complex molecules. J. Exp. Med. 1996;184:913-22.
- 55. Rajagopalan S., Long E.O.: A human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G-specific receptor expressed on all natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 1999;189:1093-1100.
- 56. Carretero M., Cantoni C., Bellón T., Bottino C., Biassoni R., Rodríguez A., Pérez-Villar J.J., Moretta L., Moretta A., López-Botet M.: The CD94 and NKG2-A C-type lectins covalently assemble to form a natural killer cell inhibitory receptor for HLA class I molecules. Eur. J. Immunol. 1997;27:563-567.

- 57. Braud V.M., Allan D.S., O'Callaghan C.A., Söderström K., D'Andrea A., Ogg G.S., Lazetic S., Young N.T., Bell J.I., Phillips J.H., Lanier L.L., McMichael A.J.: HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. Nature 1998;39:795-799.
- 58. Lazetic S., Chang C., Houchins J.P., Lanier L.L., Phillips J.H.: Human natural killer cell receptors involved in MHC class I recognition are disulfide-linked heterodimers of CD94 and NKG2 subunits. J. Immunol. 1996;157:4741-4745.
- 59. Pérez-Villar J.J., Carretero M., Navarro F., Melero I., Rodríguez A., Bottino C., Moretta A., López-Botet M.J.: Biochemical and serologic evidence for the existence of functionally distinct forms of the CD94 NK cell receptor. Immunol. 1996;157:5367-5374.
- 60. Brooks A.G., Posch P.E., Scorzelli C.J., Borrego F., Coligan J.E.: NKG2A complexed with CD94 defines a novel inhibitory natural killer cell receptor. J. Exp. Med. 1997;185:795-800.
- 61. López-Botet M., Llano M., Navarro F., Bellón T.: NK cell recognition of nonclassical HLA class I molecules. Semin. Immunol. 2000;12:109-119.
- 62. Wu J., Song Y., Bakker A.B., Bauer S., Spies T., Lanier L.L., Phillips J.H.: An activating immunoreceptor complex formed by NKG2D and DAP10. Science 1999;285:730-732.
- 63. Bauer S., Groh V., Wu J., Steinle A., Phillips J.H., Lanier L.L., Spies T.: Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. Science 1999;285:727-729.

- 64. Steinle A., Li P., Morris D.L., Groh V., Lanier L.L., Strong R.K., Spies T.: Interactions of human NKG2D with its ligands MICA, MICB, and homologs of the mouse RAE-1 protein family. Immunogenetics. 2001;53:279-287.
- 65. Sutherland C.L., Chalupny N.J., Cosman D.: The UL16-binding proteins, a novel family of MHC class I-related ligands for NKG2D, activate natural killer cell functions. Immunol. Rev. 2001;181:185-192.
- 66. Pessino A., Sivori S., Bottino C., Malaspina A., Morelli L., Moretta L., Biassoni R., Moretta A.: Molecular cloning of NKp46: a novel member of the immunoglobulin superfamily involved in triggering of natural cytotoxicity. J. Exp. Med. 1998;188:953-960.
- 67. Pende D., Parolini S., Pessino A., Sivori S., Augugliaro R., Morelli L., Marcenaro E., Accame L., Malaspina A., Biassoni R., Bottino C., Moretta L., Moretta A.: Identification and molecular characterization of NKp30, a novel triggering receptor involved in natural cytotoxicity mediated by human natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 1999;190:1505-1516.
- 68. Szekeres-Bartho J., Kilar F., Falkay G., Csernus V., Torok A., Pacsa A.S.: The mechanism of the inhibitory effect of progesterone on lymphocyte cytotoxicity: I. Progesterone-treated lymphocytes release a substance inhibiting cytotoxicity and prostaglandin synthesis. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. Microbiol. 1985;9:15–18.
- 69. Szekeres-Bartho J., Autran B., Debre P., Andreu G., Denver L., Chaouat G.: Immunoregulatory effects of a suppressor factor from healthy pregnant women's lymphocytes after progesterone induction. Cell Immunol. 1989;122:281–294.

- 70. Szekeres-Bartho J., Wegmann T.G., Kelemen K., Bognar I., Faust ZS., Varga P.: Interaction of progesterone- and cytokine-mediated immunomodulatory mechanisms in favour of successful gestation. Regional Immunol. 1995;6:315–320.
- 71. Faust Zs., Laskarin G., Rukavina D., Szekeres-Bartho J.: Progesterone-Induced Blocking Factor inhibits degranulation of natural killer cells. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1999;42:71-75.
- 72. Szekeres-Bartho J., Kinsky R., Chaouat G.: A progesterone-induced immunologic blocking factor corrects high resorption rate in mice treated with antiprogesterone.
  Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 1990;163:1320–1322.
- 73. Li X.F., Charnock-Jones D.S., Zhang E., Hiby S., Malik S., Day K., Licence D., Bowen J.M., Gardner L., King A., Loke Y.W., Smith S.K.: Angiogenic growth factor messenger ribonucleic acids in uterine natural killer cells. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2001;86:1823-1834.
- 74. Koopman L.A., Kopcow H.D., Rybalov B., Boyson J.E., Orange J.S., Schatz F., Masch R., Lockwood C.J., Schachter A.D., Park P.J., Strominger J.L.: Human decidual natural killer cells are a unique NK cell subset with immunomodulatory potential. J. Exp. Med. 2003;198:1201-1212.
- 75. Lash G.E., Schiessl B., Kirkley M., Innes B.A., Cooper A., Searle R.F., Robson S.C., Bulmer J.N.: Expression of angiogenic growth factors by uterine natural killer cells during early pregnancy. J. Leukoc. Bio.l 2006;80:572-580.
- 76. Croy B. A., He H., Esadeg S., Wei Q., McCartney D., Zhang J., Borzychowski A., Ashkar A. A., Black G. P., Evans S. S., Chantakru S., van den Heuvel M., Paffaro, Jr. V. A., Yamada A.T.: Uterine natural killer cells: insights into their cellular and molecular biology from mouse modelling. Reproduction 2003;126:149–160.

- 77. Merviel P., Carbillon L., Challier J.C., Rabreau M., Beaufils M., Uzan S.: Pathophysiology of preeclampsia: links with implantation disorders. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 2004;115:134-147.
- 78. Redman C.W., Sargent I.L.: Latest advances in understanding preeclampsia. Science 2005;308:1592-1594.
- 79. Darmochwal-Kolarz D., Leszczynska-Gorzelak B., Rolinski J., Oleszczuk J.: The immunophenotype of patients with recurrent pregnancy loss. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 2002;103:53-57.
- 80. Beer A.E., Kwak J.Y., Ruiz J.E.. Reproductive immunology. In: Rich R.R., Fleischer T.A., Schwartz B.D., Shearer W.T., Strober W., editors. Clinical immunology: principles and practice. New York: Mosby, 1995;1537–1550.
- 81. Beer A.E., Kwak J.Y., Gilman-Sachs A., Beaman K.D.: New horizons in the evaluation and treatment of recurrent pregnancy loss. In: Hunt J.S., editor. Immunobiology of reproduction. New York: Springer, 1994;316–334.
- 82. Faas M., Bouman A., Moesa H., Heineman M.J., de Leij L., Schuiling G.: The immune response during the luteal phase of the ovarian cycle: a Th2-type response? Fertil. Steril. 2000;74:1008-1013.
- 83. Emmer P.M., Nelen W.L., Steegers E.A., Hendrinks J.C., Veerhoek M., Joosten I.: Peripheral natural killer cytotoxicity and CD56 (pos) CD16 (pos) cells increase during early pregnancy in women with a history of recurrent spontaneous abortion. Hum. Reprod. 2000;15:1163–1169.
- 84. Yamada H., Kato E.H., Kobashi G., Ebina Y., Shimada S., Morikawa M., Sakuragi N., Fujimoto S.: High NK cell activity in early pregnancy correlates with

- subsequent abortion with normal chromosomes in women with recurrent abortion.

  Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2001;46:132–136.
- 85. Somigliana E., Vigano P., Vignali M.: Endometriosis and unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion: pathological states resulting from aberrant modulation of natural killer cell function? Hum. Reprod. Update 1999;5:40–51.
- 86. Raghupathy R, Makhseed M, Azizieh F, Hassan N, Al-Azemi M, Al-Shamali: Maternal Th1- and Th2-type reactivity to placental antigens in normal human pregnancy and unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortions. Cell. Immunol. 1999;196:122-130.
- 87. Raghupathy R., Makhseed M., Azizieh F., Omu A., Gupta M., Farhat R.: Cytokine production by maternal lymphocytes during normal human pregnancy and in unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion. Hum. Reprod. 2000;15:713-718.
- 88. Rezaei A., Dabbagh A.: T-helper (1) cytokines increase during early pregnancy in women with a history of recurrent spontaneous abortion. Med. Sci. Monit. 2002;8:CR607-CR610.
- 89. Hossein H., Mahroo M., Abbas A., Firouzeh A., Nadia H.: Cytokine production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells in recurrent miscarriage. Cytokine 2004;28:83-86.
- 90. Wilson R., Jenkins C., Miller H., McInnes I.B., Moore J., McLean M.A., Walker J.J.: Abnormal cytokine levels in non-pregnant women with a history of recurrent miscarriage. Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 2004;115:51-54.
- 91. Kruse C., Varming K., Christiansen O.B.: Prospective, serial investigations of invitro lymphocyte cytokine production, CD62L expression and proliferative response

- to microbial antigens in women with recurrent miscarriage. Hum. Reprod. 2003;18:2465-72.
- 92. Ledee-Bataille N., Bonnet-Chea K., Hosny G., Dubanchet S., Frydman R., Chaouat G.: Role of the endometrial tripod interleukin-18, -15, and -12 in inadequate uterine receptivity in patients with a history of repeated *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer failure, Fertil. Steril. 2005;83:598–605.
- 93. Crncic T.B., Laskarin G., Frankovic K.J., Tokmadzic V.S., Strbo N., Bedenicki I., Le Bouteiller P., Tabiasco J., Rukavina D.: Early pregnancy decidual lymphocytes beside perforin use Fas ligand (FasL) mediated cytotoxicity. J Reprod Immunol. 2007;73:108-117.
- 94. Quenby S., Bates M., Doig T., Brewster J., Lewis-Jones D.I., Johnson P.M., Vince G.: Pre-implantation endometrial leukocytes in women with recurrent miscarriage. Hum. Reprod. 1999;14:2386-2391.
- 95. Gulan G., Podack E.R., Rukavina D., Gudelj L., Rubesa G., Petrovic O., Johnson P.M., Christmas S.E.: Perforin-expressing lymphocytes in peripheral blood and decidua of human first-trimester pathological pregnancies. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1997;38:9-18.
- 96. Higuma-Myojo S., Sasaki Y., Miyazaki S., Sakai M., Siozaki A., Miwa N., Saito S.: Cytokine profile of natural killer cells in early human pregnancy. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2005;54:21-29.
- 97. Chesley L.C.: A short history of eclampsia. Obstet Gynecol 1974;43:599-602.
- 98. Roberts J.M., Taylor R.N., Musci T.J, Rodgers G.M., Hubel C.A., McLaughlin M.K.: Preeclampsia, an endothelial cell disorder. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 1989;161:1200-1204.

- 99. Parham P.: MHC class I molecules and kirs in human history, health and survival.

  Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2005;5: 201-214.
- 100. Hiby S.E., Walker J.J., O'Shaughnessy K. M., Redman C.W.G., Carrington M., Trowsdale J., Moffett A.: Combinations of Maternal KIR and Fetal HLA-C Genes Influence the Risk of Preeclampsia and Reproductive Success. J Exp Med. 2004;200:957–965.
- Borzychowski A.M., Sargent, I.L., Redman C.W.G.: Inflammation and preeclampsia. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2006;11: 309-316.
- 102. Sibai B.M.: Diagnosis and management of gestational hypertension and preeclampsia. Obstet Gynecol 2003;102:181-192.
- 103. Cetin I., Cozzi V., Antonazzo P.: Infertility as a cancer risk factor a review. Placenta 2008;29:169-177.
- 104. Libby G., Murphy D.J., McEwan N.F., Greene S.A., Forsyth J.S., Chien P.W., Morris A.D.: Pre-eclampsia and the later development of type 2 diabetes in mothers and their children: an intergenerational study from the Walker cohort. Diabetologia 2007;50:523-530.
- 105. Genetics of Pre-eclampsia (GOPEC) consortium: Babies, pre-eclamptic mothers and grandparents: a three-generation phenotyping study. J. Hypertens. 2007;25:849-854.
- 106. Lee K.Y., DeMayo F.J.: Animal models of implantation. Reproduction 2004;128:679-695.
- 107. Zenclussen A.C., Fest S., Ricarda J., Klapp B.F., Arck P.C.: Introducing a mouse model for pre-eclampsia: adoptive transfer of activated Th1 cells leads to pre-

- eclampsia-like symptoms exclusively in pregnant mice. Eur. J. Immunol. 2004;34:377-387.
- 108. Meeusen E., Fox A., Brandon M., Lee C.S.: Activation of uterine intraepithelial gamma delta T cell receptor positive lymphocytes during pregnancy. Eur J Immunol 1993;23:1112–1117.
- 109. Groh V., Porcelli S., Fabbi M., Lanier L.L., Picker L.J., Anderson T., Warnke R.A., Bhan A.K., Strominger J.L., Brenner M.B. Human lymphocytes bearing T cells receptor γδ are phenotypically diverse and evenly distributed throughout thelymphoid system. J. Exp. Med. 1989;169:1277–1294.
- 110. Mincheva Nilsson L., Kling M., Hammartstrom S., Nagaeva O., Sundkvist K.G., Hammarstrom M.L., Baranov V.: T cells of human early pregnancy decidua. J. Immunol. 1997;159:3266–3277.
- 111. Polgar B., Barakonyi A., Xynos I., Szekeres-Bartho J.: The role of γ/δ T cell receptor positive cells in pregnancy. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1999;41:239-244..
- 112. Barakonyi A., Polgar B., Szekeres-Bartho J.: The role of γ/δ T cell receptor positive cells in pregnancy: Part II. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 1999;42: 83-87.
- 113. Kabelitz D., Glatzer A., Welsh D.: Antigen recognition by human γδ T lymphocytes. Int. Arch. Allergy and Immunol. 2000;122:1–7.
- 114. Mingari M.C., Vitale C., Cambiaggi A., Schiavetti F., Melioli G., Ferrini S., Poggi A.: Cytolytic T lymphocytes displaying natural killer (NK)-like activity: expression of NK-related functional receptors for HLA class I molecules (p58 and CD94) and inhibitory effect on the TCR mediated target cell lysis or lymphokine production. Int. Immunol. 1995;7:697-703.

- 115. Szekeres-Bartho J., Barakonyi A., Miko E., Polgar B., Palkovics T.: The role of gamma/delta T cells in the feto-maternal relationship. Semin. Immunol. 2001;13(4):229-233.
- 116. Bailey J.M.: New mechanisms for effects of anti-inflammatory glucocorticoids. Biofactors 1991;3:97-102.
- 117. Lieberman J.: The ABCs of granule-mediated cytotoxicity: new weapons in the arsenal. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2003;3:361-370.
- 118. Russell J.H., Ley TJ.: Lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2002;20:323-370.
- 119. Lieberman J., Fan Z.: Nuclear war: the granzyme A-bomb. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 2003;15:553-559.
- 120. Lord S.J., Rajotte R.V., Korbutt G.S., Bleackley R.C.: Granzyme B: a natural born killer. Immunol. Rev. 2003;193:31-38.
- 121. Liu C.C., Persechini P.M., Young J.D.: Perforin and lymphocyte-mediated cytolysis. Immunol. Rev. 1995;146:145-175.
- 122. Kaspar A.A., Okada S., Kumar J., Poulain F.R., Drouvalakis K.A., Kelekar A., Hanson D.A., Kluck R.M., Hitoshi Y., Johnson D.E., Froelich C.J., Thompson C.B., Newmeyer D.D., Anel A., Clayberger C., Krensky A.M.: A distinct pathway of cell-mediated apoptosis initiated by granulysin. J. Immunol. 2001;167:350-356.
- 123. Pardo J., Pérez-Galán P., Gamen S., Marzo I., Monleón I., Kaspar A.A., Susín S.A., Kroemer G., Krensky A.M., Naval J., Anel A.: A role of the mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor in granulysin-induced apoptosis. J. Immunol. 2001;167:1222-1229.

- 124. Krammer P.H.: CD95(APO-1/Fas)-mediated apoptosis: live and let die. Adv. Immunol. 1999;71:163-210.
- 125. Khademi M., Illés Z., Gielen A.W., Marta M., Takazawa N., Baecher-Allan C., Brundin L., Hannerz J., Martin C., Harris R.A., Hafler D.A., Kuchroo V.K., Olsson T., Piehl F., Wallström E.: T Cell Ig- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-3 (TIM-3) and TIM-1 molecules are differentially expressed on human Th1 and Th2 cells and in cerebrospinal fluid-derived mononuclear cells in multiple sclerosis. J. Immunol. 2004;172:7169-7176.
- 126. Anderson A.C., Anderson D.E., Bregoli L., Hastings W.D., Kassam N., Lei C., Chandwaskar R., Karman J., Su E.W., Hirashima M., Bruce J.N., Kane L.P., Kuchroo V.K., Hafler D.A.: Promotion of tissue inflammation by the immune receptor Tim-3 expressed on innate immune cells. Science 2007;318:1141-1143.
- 127. Kingsley C.I., Karim M., Bushell A.R., Wood K.J.: CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells prevent graft rejection: CTLA-4- and IL-10-dependent immunoregulation of alloresponses. J. Immunol. 2002;168:1080-1086.
- 128. Graca L., Cobbold S.P., Waldmann H.: Identification of regulatory T cells in tolerated allografts. J. Exp. Med. 2002;195:1641-1646.
- 129. Sánchez-Fueyo A., Tian J., Picarella D., Domenig C., Zheng X.X., Sabatos C.A., Manlongat N., Bender O., Kamradt T., Kuchroo V.K., Gutiérrez-Ramos J.C., Coyle A.J., Strom T.B.: Tim-3 inhibits T helper type 1-mediated auto- and alloimmune responses and promotes immunological tolerance. Nat. Immunol. 2003;4:1093-1101.
- 130. Baecher-Allan C., Brown J.A., Freeman G.J., Hafler D.A.: CD4+CD25high regulatory cells in human peripheral blood. J. Immunol. 2001;167:1245-1253.

- 131. Aluvihare V.R., Kallikourdis M., Betz A.G.: Regulatory T cells mediate maternal tolerance to the fetus. Nat. Immunol. 2004;5:266-271.
- 132. Sasaki Y., Sakai M., Miyazaki S., Higuma S., Shiozaki A., Saito S.: Decidual and peripheral blood CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in early pregnancy subjects and spontaneous abortion cases. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 2004;10:347-353.

## **PUBLICATIONS**

1. Szekeres-Bartho J., Barakonyi A., Miko E., Polgar B., Palkovics T.: The role of

gamma/delta T cells in the feto-maternal relationship.

Semin. Immunol. 2001;13:229-233.

Impact factor: 6,022

Recognition of nonclassical HLA class I antigens by gamma/delta T cells during

2. Barakonyi, A., Kovacs KT., Miko, E. Szereday L., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.:

pregnancy.

J. Immunol. 2002;168:2683-2688.

Impact factor: 7,145

3. Szereday L., Barakonyi A., Miko E., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: γδ T cell

subsets, NKG2A expression and apoptosis of V $\delta$ 2+ T cells in pregnant women with

or without risk for premature pregnancy termination.

Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2003;6: 490-496.

Impact factor: 2,088

4. Polgar B., Kispal G., Lachmann M., Paar C., Nagy E., Csere P., Miko E., Szereday

L., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: Molecular cloning and immunologic

characterization of a novel cDNA coding for progesterone-induced blocking factor.

J. Immunol. 2003;171:5956-5963.

Impact factor: 6,702

5. Polgar B., Nagy E., Miko E., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: Urinary progesterone-

induced blocking factor concentration is related to pregnancy outcome.

Biol. Reprod. 2004;71:1699-1705.

Impact factor: 3,55

6. Barakonyi A., Miko E., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: V-chain preference of

gamma/delta T-Cell Receptors in peripheral blood during term labor.

Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2008;59:201-205.

Impact factor: 2,13

7. Luchetti C.G., Miko E., Szekeres-Bartho J., Agustin D.P., Motta A.B.:

Dehydroepiandrosterone and metformin are modulators of progesterone-induced

blocking factor (PIBF), cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2) and cytokines in early pregnant

BALB/c mice.

J. Steroid. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 2008;111:200-207.

Impact factor: 2,82

8. **Miko E.,** Szereday L., Barakonyi A., Jarkovich A., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: The role of invariant NKT cells in pre-eclampsia.

Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 2008;60:118-126.

Impact factor: 2,13

 Miko E., Szereday L., Barakonyi A., Jarkovich A., Varga P., Szekeres-Bartho J.: Immunoactivation in pre-eclampsia: Vδ2+ and regulatory T cells during the inflammatory stage.

J. Reprod. Immunol. (in press)

Impact factor: 3,011